IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JOHN ILIESCU, individually, JOHN ILIESCU, JR. and SONNIA ILIESCU, as Trustees of the JOHN ILIESCU, JR. AND SONNIA ILIESCU 1992 FAMILY TRUST AGREEMENT,	Electronically Filed Nov 21 2018 04:01 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellants, vs. HALE LANE PEEK DENNISON AND HOWARD PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION, a Nevada professional corporation,	Supreme Court No. 76146 Washoe County Case No. CV07-00341 (Consolidated w/CV07-01021)
Respondent.	

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a final Summary Judgment dismissal of third-party legal malpractice claims, entered on June 12, 2018. *See* Joint Appendix filed concurrently herewith at Volume XIII, pages JA2497-2511 (hereinafter cited by volume no., and "JA" page number). The basis for appellate jurisdiction herein is NRAP 3A(b)(1). Notice of Entry of the final Judgment was served on June 12, 2018. XIII JA2512-2530. Notice of Appeal was then filed within thirty (30) days on June 15, 2018. XIII JA2531-2533.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(10) and (11) as involving a principal question which is an issue of first impression under Nevada common law; and a question of statewide public importance.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the district court erred in granting summary judgment to the Respondent law firm, dismissing the Appellants' Third-Party legal malpractice suit against Respondents, by accepting a judicial error as superceding/intervening proximate cause defense, even though genuine issues of material fact remained to be adjudicated for the trier-of-fact as to the true proximate cause of the Appellants' damages stemming from the Respondent law firm's malpractice.

2. Whether the district court erred in dismissing the Appellants' *transactional* malpractice claims by accepting a judicialerror as superceding/intervening proximate cause defense, which properly applies to only *litigation* malpractice claims. 3. Whether the district court erred in dismissing the Appellants' *litigation* malpractice claims by accepting a judicial-error as superceding/intervening proximate cause defense, even though the legal conditions to said defense were not shown, as the law firm Respondent (a) failed to make the argument upon which the Appellants ultimately prevailed, and (b) made contrary arguments which invited the judicial error.

4. Whether the district court's ruling improperly deprived the Appellants, who met their legal duty to mitigate their losses, of their correlative right to seek reimbursement for their mitigation expenses, thereby rewarding Respondent for Appellants' successful mitigation efforts, without reimbursement by Respondent for the costs incurred by Appellants to mitigate the losses caused by Respondent.

5. Whether the district court abused its discretion in rejecting the Appellants' repeated NRCP 15(a) requests to amend their Third-Party Complaint as well as their NRCP 56(f) request to be provided additional time to complete discovery, before Summary Judgment was granted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants (herein the "Iliescus"), owned certain property in downtown Reno (the "Property"), which they agreed to sell for \$7.5 million dollars to a would-be purchaser (VI JA1281-1306) who intended to develop a multi-use condominium project on the Property. The Iliescus retained Respondent law firm (herein "Hale Lane") to assist them in drawing up certain purchase agreement documents related to that transaction. VII JA1309-1326. Hale Lane also accepted conflicting representation of the buyer. X JA2013; XI JA2147-2155. The Iliescus allege that Hale Lane committed *transactional malpractice* during its work on the purchase agreement documents, including by failing to warn and advise them how to protect themselves from the danger of a mechanic's lien being recorded against their Property for offsite design services provided to the buyer during escrow.

The purchase transaction failed to close and the Appellants received their unimproved Property out of escrow encumbered by a significant mechanic's lien for architectural services provided to the would-be buyer, recorded in the name of Mark A. Steppan ("Steppan"). VI JA1201-1218.

Hale Lane filed an Application on behalf of the Iliescus for Release of that Steppan lien on February 14, 2007. I JA0001-0006. This Application was not granted after a hearing thereon, and, instead, the district court ordered discovery to proceed on an allegedly material question of fact. I JA0167-0168. The Iliescus allege below and herein that Hale Lane's Application and the oral arguments thereon were inadequate and constituted *litigation malpractice*. X JA2068-2070; JA2082-2084; JA2087-2112.

Steppan then sued to foreclose on the architectural mechanic's lien (which suit was consolidated with the Iliescus' suit). I JA0170-0175; JA0216-0219. The Iliescus retained new counsel and filed an Answer to the Steppan lien foreclosure Complaint (II JA0220-0253), which included the third-party legal malpractice claim against Hale Lane. *Id*.

The Steppan suit against the Iliescus was initially dismissed in late 2011, as was the Iliescu suit against Hale Lane (V JA0911-0920; JA0970-0977). However,

these suits were then reinstated in early to mid 2012 after the appeal of these dismissals resulted in a remand and subsequent reconsideration orders. (V JA1005-1081.) The third-party malpractice claims against Hale Lane were then stayed by stipulation (VI JA1085-1091) pending the outcome of the Iliescus' dispute with Steppan.

A \$4,536,263.45 Judgment in favor of Steppan, upholding his mechanic's lien and ordering a sale thereon, was entered on February 26, 2015. VII JA1347-1349. That Judgment was appealed by the Iliescus and was then reversed by this Court on May 25, 2017. VIII JA1721-1732. *Iliescu v. Steppan*, 394 P.3d 930 (Nev. 2017). Remittitur issued and was filed with the district court, on October 17, 2017 (VIII JA1735), leading to entry of a new Judgment in favor of the Iliescus, and expunging the Steppan lien, on January 3, 2018. XI JA2235-2238.

The district court then denied the Iliescus' attempts to seek their substantial costs and attorneys' fees from lien claimant Steppan. XIII JA2406-2412; JA2413-2435.

Shortly after Remittitur issued, Hale Lane filed a Motion for Summary Judgment dismissal of the previously stayed third party legal malpractice claims (X JA1923-2050). The Iliescus opposed this motion and counter-moved for additional time to complete discovery on the previously stayed case, before summary judgment was allowed, and also for leave to amend their Third-Party

-4-

Complaint. X JA2055-XI JA2234. The Hale Lane Summary Judgment Motion was granted, and the Iliescus' countervailing requests were denied. XIII JA2512-2530. This is an appeal from that district court order. XIII JA2531-2539.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT¹

The Iliescus retained Respondent Hale Lane to represent their interests in preparing purchase agreement documents to sell their Property to a would-be buyer. During escrow, the purchaser of the Property retained an architectural firm and its Nevada licensed employee, Mark Steppan, to provide architectural services for the purchaser's planned future development at the Property. Hale Lane also came to represent the purchaser which was to acquire the Property, and was less than timely or fully forthcoming in advising the Iliescus as to the timing, scope, and nature of this conflicting representation, or of information learned by Hale Lane from that conflicting representation.

In the course of providing the Iliescus with transactional representation Hale Lane failed to ever adequately *inform* or *warn* the Iliescus of information known to Hale Lane which rendered the Iliescus' real Property vulnerable to a significant mechanic's lien being recorded against it, for architectural services provided to the would-be purchaser during escrow. Hale Lane also failed to ever *advise* the

¹ As this section of this brief merely summarizes the arguments, citations to the appendix/record are not included herein, but are provided in the more detailed Statement of Facts, below.

Iliescus as to methods for mitigating against this danger.

Ultimately, the transaction never closed and the Iliescus received their wholly unimproved Property back out of escrow encumbered by a major mechanic's lien which had been recorded against it in Steppan's name, for offsite architectural services provided to the purchaser with respect to a proposed but never-commenced development at the Property.

Hale Lane then agreed to contest this Mechanic's Lien on behalf of the Iliescus, and filed a short and half-hearted Application for release thereof. This Application argued that the lien should be expunged due to Steppan's failure to have ever served the Iliescus with a right-to-lien notice as mandated by NRS 108.245, within 31 days of any work for which a lien might be sought. This Application was opposed on the grounds that, if the Iliescus had sufficient knowledge of the potential architectural services, the lien claimant could be excused for violating NRS 108.245, pursuant to certain cases of this Court establishing what has sometimes been termed the "actual notice exception" or "*Fondren* exception" to the mandates of NRS 108.245 (sometimes hereinafter the "*Fondren* actual notice cases").²

² The *Fondren* actual notice cases consist of, *Board of Trustees v. Durable Developers*, 102 Nev. 401, 724 P.2d 736 (1986); and *Fondren v. KL Complex, Ltd.*, 106 Nev. 705, 800 P.2d 719 (1990); *--see also, Hardy Companies Inc. vs. SNMARK, LLC*, 126 Nev. 528, 540 245 P.3d 1149, 1157 (2010), decided after the Hale Lane application was filed and argued.

Hale Lane could have argued, in response, that the *Fondren* actual notice exception to NRS 108.245 does not apply to offsite services. But Hale Lane did not make this argument. Instead, Hale Lane conceded that sufficient actual knowledge might excuse Steppan's failure to comply with NRS 108.245, but argued that the Iliescus had insufficient knowledge for that exception to apply.

As demonstrated by the ultimate outcome of the Steppan lien litigation, this concession need not have been made by Hale Lane, which should instead have argued, at least in the alternative, that *Fondren* did not apply, as a matter of law, to a lien claimant providing offsite services.

But, based on the arguments which were in fact actually made by Hale Lane, the district court did not grant the Application, but instead ordered discovery to take place, with respect to the allegedly material factual question of the Iliescus' knowledge, if any, of the lien claimant's services. Hale Lane now contends this decision was a judicial error. The Application lawsuit was then consolidated with Steppan's mechanic's lien foreclosure suit. The Iliescus then retained new counsel and named Hale Lane as a third-party defendant in that suit, for legal malpractice.

The malpractice claims were then stayed, while the district court thereafter kept this case on the track it was placed by Hale Lane's initial omitted argument and concession, over the course of the subsequent years, in subsequently entered partial summary judgment rulings and after a trial on the merits. Based thereon, the Iliescus ultimately lost the Steppan mechanic's lien lawsuit after trial.

But then the Iliescus obtained a reversal on appeal. That reversal was based on this Court's analysis indicating that: (1) Steppan had failed to serve a right-tolien notice as mandated by NRS 108.245 such that his mechanic's lien was invalid. (2) Steppan could not rely on the *Fondren* actual notice cases to excuse this failure on his part, as said cases did not apply, legally, to the lien claimant's offsite work, such that the extent of the Iliescus' knowledge, if any, as to such work, was a legally irrelevant factual question. Hale Lane had only made the first, but not the second, of these points in its prior Application and in its oral argument thereon to the district court.

Nevertheless, once the Iliescus were successful in their appeal, Hale Lane immediately filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, to prevent the Iliescus from seeking to recoup their costs and fees incurred defending against the Steppan lien from Hale Lane. Hale Lane argued that its initial Application should have been granted years before, such that: (1) Hale Lane had no duty to warn the Iliescus about the risks of the architectural mechanic's lien, since that lien was invalid, and a transactional law firm has no duty to warn against potential invalid claims; and (2) that Hale Lane's errors were not the proximate cause of the Iliescus' damages, which were instead caused by intervening and superceding judicial error. Hale Lane's counsel ultimately withdrew its first argument, and focused instead on its second defense: judicial error as an intervening and superceding cause of the Iliescus' damages, such that Hale Lane's conduct was allegedly not the proximate cause of the Iliescus' litigations costs and expenses, or the Iliescus' other claimed damages (such as the economic value losses from having real property tied up by a lis pendens for many years). The district court granted Hale Lane summary judgment dismissal solely on the basis of that second argument.

This decision was in error on several points:

First of all, the "judicial error as superceding proximate cause" argument should never have been applied to the Iliescus' transactional malpractice claims, but is a legal theory applicable solely to litigation malpractice. Thus, upon Hale Lane correctly abandoning its first argument, which was asserted in defense of the Iliescus' transactional malpractice claims, those transactional malpractice claims should have survived summary judgment: numerous authorities recognize that a lawyer may be sued for transactional errors that caused the client to incur litigation costs and fees.

Moreover, the judicial error as proximate cause argument should not have been accepted, as to either the transactional malpractice claims or the litigation malpractice claims. Genuine issues of material fact clearly existed, and continue to exist, as to the foreseeability, and true proximate cause of the Iliescus' damages.

-9-

Indeed, the district court's ruling ignored this Court's case law indicating that proximate cause need not be the only cause of loss, if it is a substantial factor contributing to foreseeable harm, and is almost always a question of fact for trial, rarely to be adjudicated as a matter of law on summary judgment.

Furthermore, according to the very cases on which Hale Lane relied in support of its motion, a legal malpractice defendant who wishes to successfully claim a "judicial error as proximate cause" defense, must demonstrate (1) that the law firm made the necessary argument and the judge committing judicial error failed to accept it; and (2) that said law firm did not invite the judicial error in its own arguments. Hale Lane fails either test:

(1) Hale Lane did not make the second part of the argument on which the Iliescus would ultimately prevail. Hale Lane argued that Steppan's failure to provide NRS 108.245 notice should bar the Steppan lien, but did *not* argue that the *Fondren* actual notice exception to that statutory requirement should only apply to lien claimants providing offsite work.

(2) Indeed, Hale Lane invited judicial error on this point by making just the opposite argument, and convincing the district court that what the Iliescus knew and when they knew it was a material issue of fact in this case, even though said question was ultimately ruled (on appeal) by this Court to be legally irrelevant. Hale Lane argued that *Fondren* did not apply because of the Iliescus'

-10-

lack of sufficient knowledge, thereby raising a factual issue causing the district court to order discovery rather than grant the Application, instead of properly arguing that this fact was legally irrelevant.

Based thereon, the district court erred in granting summary judgment dismissal to Hale Lane.

Furthermore, the district court's ruling violates the legal principle that claimants who mitigate their damages are entitled to be reimbursed for the costs of that mitigation, from the defendant who caused the need for such mitigation.

The Iliescus' requests to amend their Third-Party claim, and for time to complete discovery, should also have been granted, before and in lieu of granting summary judgment dismissal of their malpractice claim.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>Hale Lane's Transactional Legal Services Provided to the Iliescus.</u>

(i) <u>The Property Sale.</u>

The Iliescu Appellants were the owners of vacant and unimproved real Property in downtown Reno, as described in the mechanics lien previously at issue herein (the "Property"). VI JA1201-1218. Appellants entered into a Land Purchase Agreement and Addendums (VI JA1281-1308 *et seq.*) to sell the Property to a would-be purchaser, Consolidated Pacific Development ("Consolidated"), which eventually assigned its purchase rights to an entity known as BSC. (I JA0115)³ (Consolidated and BSC are sometimes jointly hereinafter referred to as "BSC," or as the "purchaser" or "developer"). BSC planned to develop a multi-use high-rise development to be known as the "Wingfield Towers" at the Property. *Id*.

The Iliescus retained Respondent Hale Lane to represent them in negotiating certain of the purchase agreement documents for this transaction.

(ii) <u>Addendum No. 3.</u>

Hale Lane attorney Karen Dennison provided these services to the Iliescus and prepared an October 2005 Addendum No. 3 to the purchase agreement, on their behalf. VII JA1309-1324. This Addendum included, at Paragraph 1, a modification of certain terms relating to any extensions of the close of escrow date; and also included, at Paragraph 7, an indication that obtaining the necessary entitlements, including any required zoning variances or special use permits, was a condition precedent to the parties' obligations, which entitlements were required to be obtained by and "at buyer's expense" and also noted the potential involvement of an architect for that process, at paragraph 8(1). *Id*.

³ To include BSC Investments (I JA0116 at l. 24) including under its apparent d/b/a name of "BSC Financial, LLC." (VII JA1328; 1329) [A review of Secretary of State filings and a Nevada bankruptcy petition beyond the scope of this particular record suggest that BSC Investments, LLC was an Oregon entity, and that "BSC Financial" must have been a d/b/a, without separate existence.]

Based on these and other provisions, the Hale Lane attorneys, including Dennison, knew, or should have known, at the time this Addendum was drawn up, that architectural and design services would eventually be commencing with respect to the project. X JA2092-2094. Since Nevada law allows architects and other providers of design services to lien real property for their services (NRS 108.2214(1)), these provisions put the Iliescus at special risk of having their property title clouded by an architectural mechanic's lien, before any financing was in place to ensure closing. Hale Lane therefore had a duty to warn and inform the Iliescus of this risk, and to advise the Iliescus to include language within this Addendum No. 3 which would protect the Iliescus from such liens.

For example, the Addendum could have required the establishment of a surety bond for the payment of architectural fees, or the establishment of a construction control account to ensure any design professionals were being regularly paid and signing unconditional progress payment lien releases, etc., or could have required the buyer to inform the seller before entering into design services contracts, with a right to review and approve the same, so the seller could be protected against onerous provisions (such as exorbitant flat fee invoicing, tied to the cost of construction – which in this case never actually commenced) therein. X JA2092-2094. Moreover, the Paragraph 1 terms of the Addendum, referencing escrow closing extensions, could have been made contingent upon any design

professionals providing progress payment lien releases for all work performed through the date of any such extension. *Id*.

However, Hale Lane failed to *inform* the Iliescus of the relevant facts as to these issues, to *warn* the Iliescus regarding the risks they faced under those facts, or to *advise* the Iliescus to include provisions in Addendum No. 3 to deal with this red flag issue. *Id.* Thus, no such provisions or protections were included within Addendum No. 3. VII JA1309-1324. While Hale Lane did include some boilerplate language about the duty of the buyer to protect and indemnify the seller from liens against the property (*id.*), such language is essentially worthless, since the whole point of statutory mechanic's liens is to ensure the provider of services has security for payment, if the party with whom he contracted cannot pay, in which event that same party will also be unable to pay on any indemnity obligation.

(iii) <u>The Hale Lane conflict of interest.</u>

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