IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 76146

JOHN ILIESCU, individually, JOHN ILIESCU, JR. and SONNIA
ILIESCU, as Trustees of the JOHN ILIESCU, JR. AND Schonically Filed
ILIESCU 1992 FAMILY TRUST AGREEME 18 2019 03:03 p.m.
Appellants, Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

HALE LANE PEEK DENNISON AND HOWARD PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION, a Nevada professional Corporation

Respondent.

Appeal from the Second Judicial District Court, Washoe County, Nevada
District Court Case No. CV07-00341
(Consolidated with CV07-01021

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

TODD R. ALEXANDER
Nevada Bar No. 10846
ROBERT L. EISENBERG
Nevada Bar No. 950
LEMONS, GRUNDY & EISENBERG

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

ARGUMENT

A. Standards of Review

A district court's order granting summary judgment is reviewed *de novo*. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is proper if the pleadings and all other evidence on file demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id*.

A district court's denial of a motion for leave to amend, as well as a denial of a motion for further time to conduct discovery under Rule 56(f), are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Adamson v. Bowker*, 85 Nev. 115, 121, 450 P.2d 796, 800-01 (1969); *Aviation Ventures v. Joan Morris, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 113, 118, 110 P.3d 59, 62 (2005).

B. The distinction between transactional and litigation malpractice is immaterial in this case.

In the Opening Brief, Iliescu first argues that the doctrine of judicial-error-asintervening-cause applies only to claims of litigation malpractice, as opposed to
transactional malpractice. (AOB 29-31). Iliescu advances this argument by pointing
out that the Nevada cases cited by Hale Lane in its summary judgment briefing
(Semenza v. Nev. Med. Liab. Ins. Co., 104 Nev. 666, 765 P.2d 884 (1988); Hewitt v.

Allen, 118 Nev. 216, 43 P.3d 345 (2002)) both involved allegations of litigation
malpractice, as opposed to transactional malpractice. (AOB 29-30). Iliescu
concludes this argument by stating that "the delayed claim accrual/tolling rules
described in cases such as Semenza and Hewitt have expressly been held to not apply
to cases involving transactional malpractice claims." (AOB 30).

While Iliescu is correct that the accrual and tolling principles set forth in *Semenza* and *Hewitt* do not apply to transactional malpractice cases, Iliescu neglects to point out that Hale Lane did not cite those cases as authority on accrual or tolling principles. (X JA 1933-1935). Rather, those cases were cited only as examples in

which the Nevada Supreme Court has recognized that judicial error, rather than attorney malpractice, is, in certain cases, more appropriately characterized as the cause of a client's claimed damages.⁴ (X JA 1933-1935).

In the context of this case, the distinction between litigation malpractice and transactional malpractice is a distinction without a difference. This is because any alleged transactional errors took place before Hale Lane filed and argued its application to release Steppan's lien. If that application had been successful, as it should have been were it not for the district court's judicial error, Iliescu would not have sustained any damages from any alleged transactional malpractice that preceded the judicial error.

The distinction between litigation malpractice and transactional malpractice is only important in determining when a legal malpractice claim can be said to have accrued for the purpose of determining whether the claim has been asserted within the applicable statute of limitations period. Specifically, the statutory limitations period for a claim of legal malpractice involving the representation of a client during litigation does not commence until the underlying litigation is concluded. Hewitt, 118 Nev. at 221, 43 P.3d at 348. It is not the same, however, for

⁴ Use of *Semenza* and *Hewitt* as examples of the Nevada Supreme Court's recognition of the judicial-error-as-superceding-cause doctrine is reiterated in the following section of this brief.

a claim of *transactional* legal malpractice. *Kopicko v. Young*, 114 Nev. 1333, 1337 n.3, 971 P.2d 789, 791 n.3 (1998). In the context of alleged transactional legal malpractice, the limitations period does not necessarily wait until underlying litigation is concluded before commencing. *Id.* Rather, the limitations period begins to run when "the client discovers, or should discover, facts establishing the elements of his or her cause of action." *Charleson v. Hardesty*, 108 Nev. 878, 883, 839 P.2d 1303, 1307 (1992).

This appeal does not present an issue of accrual or a determination of whether malpractice claims were asserted within the applicable statute of limitations. It is therefore irrelevant whether Iliescu's legal malpractice claims were based on alleged transactional or litigation errors. The alleged transactional errors, if any, occurred before Hale Lane filed its application to release Steppan's lien. Thus, had the district court granted the very first filing in the underlying case—Hale Lane's application to release Steppan's lien—Iliescu would not have sustained any damages from either litigation or transactional malpractice. Accordingly, the judicial error at issue in this case was the intervening and superceding cause of Iliescu's claimed damages, regardless of whether those damages allegedly stemmed from transactional or litigation errors. The distinction between alleged transactional and litigation malpractice is therefore irrelevant in this case.

C. The district court correctly concluded that its own judicial error constituted an intervening and superceding cause of Iliescu's claimed damages.

The causation element of a negligence action has two components: actual cause and proximate cause. *Clark County School District v. Payo*, 403 P.3d 1270, 1279 (Nev. 2017). Proximate cause is defined as "any cause which in natural [foreseeable] and continuous sequence unbroken by any efficient intervening cause, produces the injury complained of and without which the result would not have occurred." *Id.* In a negligence action, including professional negligence, an intervening or superceding cause breaks the chain of causation and relieves the alleged tortfeasor of liability. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 740-41, 121 P.3d 1026, 1037 (2005). An intervening act is a superceding cause only if it is unforeseeable. *Id.* at 741, 121 P.3d at 1037.

The Nevada Supreme Court has recognized that alleged legal malpractice damages in the form of litigation expenses may, in certain circumstances, be more appropriately characterized as having been proximately caused by judicial error rather than professional negligence on the part of the attorney. For example, in *Semenza*, an attorney was sued for legal malpractice for negligently conducting discovery and negligently preparing for trial in an underlying medical malpractice case. 104 Nev. at 667, 765 P.2d at 185. Specifically, it was alleged that the attorney mistakenly allowed a damaging hospital memorandum into evidence. *Id.* Based

largely on the admission of that memorandum, a jury awarded the medical malpractice plaintiff a substantial verdict. *Id.* The doctor's liability insurer then sued the doctor's defense lawyer for legal malpractice. *Id.* The underlying medical malpractice verdict was later reversed because the admission of the memorandum "constituted prejudicial error of a magnitude that demands reversal and a new trial." *Id.* (quoting *Mishler v. McNally*, 102 Nev. 625, 629, 730 P.2d 432 (1986)).

Based on the Supreme Court's reversal of the medical malpractice verdict, the attorney in *Semenza* argued that the trial court erred in finding him liable for legal malpractice. *Id.* The Supreme Court agreed. *Id.* It analyzed the legal malpractice action under accrual principles, holding that the legal malpractice cause of action did not accrue unless and until "the underlying case has been *affirmed* on appeal." *Id.* at 666, 765 P.2d at 185-86 (emphasis added). In its analysis, the Supreme Court recognized that "[a]pparent damage may vanish with successful prosecution of an appeal and ultimate vindication of an attorney's conduct by an appellate court." *Id.* (quoting *Amfac Distribution Corp. v. Miller*, 138 Ariz. 155, 673 P.2d 795, 796 (Ariz. App. 1983)).

Likewise, in *Hewitt*, the Nevada Supreme Court recognized that a legal malpractice plaintiff's claimed damages may have been caused by judicial error, rather than an attorney's negligence. 118 Nev. at 222, 43 P.3d at 348-49. In *Hewitt*, the plaintiff was injured in a car accident for which she attempted to sue several State

of Utah governmental entities. 118 Nev. at 218, 43 P.3d at 346. In filing suit, the plaintiff's lawyer failed to comply with a Utah statute requiring that notice of her claim be served on the Utah Department of Public Safety, and the plaintiff's claims against the governmental entities were therefore dismissed. *Id.* at 218-19, 43 P.3d at 346. The plaintiff appealed the dismissals, but later voluntarily dismissed her appeal when her legal counsel advised her that the appeal was futile. *Id.* at 219, 43 P.3d at 346-47. The plaintiff then sued her attorney for malpractice. *Id.* The question at issue in *Hewitt* was whether the plaintiff had abandoned her legal malpractice claim by voluntarily dismissing an appeal that may have vindicated the attorney's conduct. *Id.* at 220, 43 P.3d at 347.

Like in *Semenza*, the Supreme Court analyzed the issue by first discussing when a legal malpractice claim can be said to have accrued. *Id.* at 220-22, 43 P.3d at 347-48. Recognizing the fact that a client need not appeal an adverse ruling to preserve a legal malpractice claim, the Court analogized the client's voluntary dismissal of her appeal to a decision not to appeal in the first place. *Id.* at 222, 43 P.3d at 348-49. It thus concluded that voluntarily dismissing a futile appeal does not amount to abandonment of a legal malpractice claim. *Id.* In reaching its conclusion, the *Hewitt* Court observed as follows:

In cases where no appeal from an adverse ruling was filed, the defendants in the legal malpractice action are able to assert, as an affirmative defense, that the proximate cause of the damages was

not the attorney's negligence, but judicial error that could have been corrected on appeal. This issue is commonly raised under theories of abandonment or failure to mitigate damages, but can also be asserted as part of a claim that the malpractice action is premature. Moreover, because the issue is raised in the context of an affirmative defense, the attorney defendant has the burden of proof to establish that an appeal would have been successful. Finally, whether an appeal is likely to succeed is a question of law to be decided by the trial court.

Hewitt, 118 Nev. at 222, 43 P.3d at 348-49 (emphasis added).

Having conceptually recognized that a judicial error can constitute an intervening and superceding cause in a legal malpractice case, it does not appear that a Nevada appellate court has examined the issue in depth. Courts in other jurisdictions have taken the opportunity to examine the issue and have concluded that, if an attorney asserts the appropriate legal argument but the court rejects it, the district court's judicial error is the superceding cause of the client's damages.

One such case is *Crestwood Cove Apartments Business Trust v. Turner*, 164 P.3d 1247, 1255 (Utah 2007). *Crestwood Cove* involved an underlying foreclosure, quiet title, and redemption of property action between the former owner of an apartment complex and the subsequent owner who had purchased the complex at a foreclosure sale. *Id.* at 1249. The trial court applied an unlawful detainer statute, which trebled the amount of the judgment against the former owner of the complex. *Id.* The former owner's attorney had argued that the unlawful detainer statute was not applicable, but the trial court rejected that argument. *Id.* at 1249-50. The former

owner later appealed the trial court's ruling but ended up settling the matter and dismissing the appeal. *Id.* at 1250. The former owner then sued the attorney who had represented it in the foreclosure and quiet title action, arguing that the attorney failed to assert the arguments necessary to protect it. *Id.* at 1250. The district court granted summary judgment for the attorney because he had asserted the appropriate legal arguments, but the district court in the quiet title case had erroneously rejected those arguments. *Crestwood Cove*, 164 P.3d at 1250.

In its discussion of the lower court's judicial error, the Supreme Court of Utah held that "[w]here an attorney has raised and preserved all relevant legal considerations in an appropriate procedural manner and a court nevertheless commits judicial error, the attorney's actions cannot be considered the proximate cause of the client's loss." *Id.* at 1255. "Although a client may believe that an attorney has not litigated a case in the most effective manner possible, such beliefs are irrelevant where the attorney has presented the necessary arguments and the judge, albeit in error, rejects them." *Id.* at 1255-56. The Court explained that "[w]ere it otherwise, an attorney would be subject to liability every time a judge erroneously ruled against the attorney's client." *Id.* at 1256. "In effect, an attorney

⁵ Crestwood Cove also involved an issue, which is not pertinent here, of whether the client had abandoned its right to pursue a malpractice action by settling the underlying matter. 164 P.3d at 1250-54.

would become a guarantor of correct judicial decisionmaking—a result we cannot accept." *Id.* When an attorney has raised the appropriate arguments "and the court nevertheless commits judicial error, a plaintiff's suit can be appropriately dismissed on summary judgment." *Id.*

The plaintiff in *Crestwood Cove* argued that when answering certain questions during oral argument, the attorney implied that the unlawful detainer statute might be applicable. 164 P.3d at 1256. The plaintiff argued that the attorney's missteps "allowed the trial court to proceed too far down the wrong road." *Id.* But, the Court explained, the attorney "cured any possible mistake when he specifically argued against" application of the unlawful detainer statute. *Id.*

The plaintiff also argued that the attorney did not raise the applicable procedural rule governing the appropriate measure of damages in a property redemption matter until the attorney moved for a new trial or to have the judgment amended under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 59. *Id.* at 1257. The Court held, however, that the Rule 59 motion was an appropriate procedural mechanism under which the district court should have corrected its previous error. *Id.* Because the undisputed facts established that the proximate cause of the plaintiff's injury was judicial error, summary judgment in favor of the attorney was affirmed. *Id.* at 1258.

Crestwood Cove did not address whether the district court's judicial error may have been foreseeable or what impact such considerations may have on the notion

of judicial error as superceding cause. The Supreme Court of Texas discussed the foreseeability of the district court's judicial error in *Stanfield v. Neubaum*, 494 S.W.3d 90 (2016). Importantly, *Stanfield* held, a judicial error is only regarded as foreseeable under very limited circumstances.

The Stanfield Court began its opinion with the following preface:

Litigation rarely results in complete satisfaction for those involved. When a lawyer makes a mistake and the client loses as a result, the law affords a remedy. What happens, however, when the lawyer pursues a winning strategy (perhaps with some strategic missteps), but the trial judge errs, and the error requires a costly appeal to correct? Is the lawyer liable for the appellate costs incurred to correct the error? Although the question presents a novel issue, the answer is governed by well-established causation principles.

Stanfield, 494 S.W.3d at 93.

Stanfield involved an underlying usury case in which the defendants, the Neubaums, were alleged to have loaned money at usurious interest rates to Buck Glove Company, through an agent, Marvin March. *Id.* at 94. The Neubaums' lawyers argued, in pertinent part, that March was not acting as their agent when he made the subject loans. *Id.* After a jury trial, the jury found that March had served as the Neubaums' agent in making the usurious loans, and the trial court entered judgment against the Neubaums. *Id.* The Neubaums' attorneys then moved for a new trial or reformation of the judgment, again arguing that there was no evidence

to support the plaintiff's agency theory. *Id.* at 94-95. That motion was denied. *Id.* at 95.

The Neubaums then hired new counsel to appeal the adverse usury judgment, and the appeal was successful. *Id.* The appellate court reversed the usury judgment, concluding that there was legally insufficient evidence that March made the loans as the Neubaums' agent. *Id.* When all was said and done, the Neubaums had spent \$140,000 in appellate attorney's fees to obtain a favorable resolution of the usury case. *Id.* The Neubaums then sued their trial attorneys for legal malpractice, seeking to recover the amounts expended to overturn the erroneous trial court judgment. *Id.*

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